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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

JENNIFER PARRISH, DANA AKRE,
ADDIE CLYDE, CYNTHIA
CUNNINGHAM, HEATHER FALK,
NORMA JEAN FUENTES, PATRICIA
GENTZ, HOLLY GOAD, CATHERINE
HELD, JODY JAKUBIK, RUTH
TESSMER, TABITHA ZIMMER,

No.:

Plaintiffs, COMPLAINT
VS.
Demand for Jury Trial
GOVERNOR MARK DAYTON, in His

Official Capacity as Governor of the State
Of Minnesota, and JOSH TILSEN, in His
Official Capacity as Commissioner of the

Bureau of Mediation Services,

N Nl N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

Plaintiffs are individuals who operate child care businesses in their own homes.
They bring this suit to enjoin and declare unconstitutional Minnesota Executive Order 11-
31, which calls for State certification of an organization to act as their exclusive
representative for purposes of dealing with the State. The Executive Order violates
Plaintiffs’ rights under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as secured
against state infringement by the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, to
individually choose with whom they associate to petition the Government for a redress of

grievances.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction to adjudicate this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
8 1331 because it arises under the United States Constitution, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
8§ 1343 because Plaintiffs seek relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. This Court has the authority
under 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202 to grant declaratory relief and other relief based
thereon.

2. Venueis proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1391 and 1392.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiffs are individuals who operate family daycare businesses in their
own homes. They reside and operate their family daycares in the following counties in
the State of Minnesota (“State”): Dana Akre (Anoka), Addie Clyde (Carlton), Cynthia
Cunningham (Ramsey), Heather Falk (Carlton), Norma Jean Fuentes (Hennepin), Patricia
Gentz (Dakota), Holly Goad (Carlton), Catherine Held (Dakota), Jody Jakubik (Anoka),
Jennifer Parrish (Olmsted), Ruth Tessmer (Anoka), and Tabitha Zimmer (Pine).

4, Defendant Mark Dayton is the Governor of the State of Minnesota and its
chief executive officer, and is sued in his official capacity.

5. Defendant Josh Tilsen is the Commissioner of the Minnesota Bureau of
Mediation Services (“BMS’), and is sued in his official capacity.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

I. Family Daycare Providers
6. A family daycare provider (“Provider”) isan individual licensed to provide

child care services to up to fourteen (14) children in his or her own residence. See Minn.
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Stat. § 245A.03; Minn. R. 9502.0315, subp 9, 11, 13. Approximately 11,000 Providers
are currently licensed in the State, which includes all Plaintiffs.

7. Providers are the proprietors of home-based businesses for federal tax and
others purposes, and may employ one or more employees in their family daycares. Cf.
Minn. Stat. 8 119B.09, subd. 9. Currently, Plaintiffs Addie Clyde, Jennifer Parrish and
Tabitha Zimmer each employs one employee, Catherine Held employs five employees,
and Dana Akre employs six employees in their respective child care businesses.

8. Some customers of family daycares are low-income families enrolled in the
State’'s Child Care Assistance Program (“*CCAP’), Minn. Stat. 8 119B et seq., which is
operated pursuant to the federal Child Care and Development Block Grant Act of 1990,
42 U.S.C. 89858 et seg. This public-assistance program subsidizes participating families
costs of obtaining child care for their children.

0. The amount of the CCAP subsidy is set by statute. Minn. Stat. 8§ 119B.13.
Subsidized families are responsible for paying their child care provider a designated co-
payment, id. at § 119B.12, and any difference between their provider’s rates and the
CCAP reimbursement rate and co-payment. Id. at 8 119B.13, subd. 1(f).

10. Familiesenrolled in CCAP may use any qualified child care service willing
to accept their business, to include family daycares. Minn. Stat. 8 119B.09, subd. 5. The
CCAP subsidy is paid directly to the child care service, unless the care is provided in the
child's own home, in which case payment is directed through the family. Id. at
§ 119B.09, subd. 10.

11.  Providers willing to accept CCAP payments for their child care services
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must register with their county to receive payment. Id. at § 119B.125, subd. 1. This
includes al Plaintiffs, who anticipate that they may provide child care services to
subsidized familiesin the future.

12.  In 2011, the family daycares operated by Plaintiffs Dana Akre, Addie
Clyde, Cynthia Cunningham, Heather Falk, Holly Goad, Catherine Held, Jody Jakubik,
Ruth Tessmer, and Tabitha Zimmer provided child care services to one or more CCAP
subsidized families. Providers currently receiving CCAP payments shall be referred to as
“CCAP Providers.”

II. Executive Order 11-31

13.  Subdivision 8 of Minn. Stat. 8 119B.09 provides that “[r]eceipt of federal,
state, or local funds by a child care provider either directly or through a parent who is a
child care assistance recipient does not establish an employee-employer relationship
between the child care provider and the county or state.”

14. On 15 November 2011, Governor Dayton issued Executive Order (“EQO”)
11-31 (attached as Exhibit A). It recognizes that no employer-employee relationship
exists between CCAP Providers and the State. 1d. at 1 8. Nevertheless, EO 11-31 directs
the “Commissioner of BMS . . . [to] conduct two mail-ballot elections to determine
whether AFSCME Council 5 and the SEIU shall represent licensed registered subsidized
family child care providersin appropriate units.” 1d. a 9 1. Both organizations are unions.

15.  The “units’ referenced in EO 11-31 are territorial. CCAP Providers in
counties in the northern half of the State must vote on exclusive representation by

AFSCME Council 5, while CCAP Providers in southern counties must vote on exclusive

4
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representation by the SEIU.

16. If a mgority of Providers that vote in the mail-ballot elections vote for
AFSCME Council 5 or the SEIU, EO 11-31 requires that the Commissioner of BMS
certify that organization as the “exclusive” representative of all CCAP Providers within
the territory. Id. at 1 3-4. Certification creates a mandatory agency relationship between
the organization and those CCAP Providers for two purposes.

17.  First, certification under EO 11-31 empowers the organization to act as the
exclusive representative of all CCAP Providers in the territorial unit for purposes of
meeting and conferring with the Commissioners of Human Services and Education with
regard to “issues of mutual concern.” Id. at 1 4. These “issues of mutual concern”
include:

quality standards and quality rating systems; the availability of
training opportunities and funding; reimbursement rates; access to
benefits; changes to the state system of providing early childhood
education services, the monitoring and evauation of family
childcare providers, and any other matters that the parties agree
would improve recruitment and retention of qualified licensed

registered subsidized family child care providers and the quality of
the programs they provide.

Id. The results of these negotiations are to be memorialized in an agreement. Id.

18.  Second, the organization(s) certified under EO 11-31 are empowered to act
as the CCAP Providers representative for purposes of seeking the adoption or
modification of administrative rules by State agencies, and the enactment of new
legislation or appropriation of monies by the Minnesota legislature, as required to
effectuate any agreements with the Commissioners of Human Services and Education. Id.

a 95.
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19. EO 11-31 thus contemplates mandatory, exclusive representation for CCAP
Providers for the purposes of petitioning both the State executive branch and legislature
on issues of public policy that affect their family daycare businesses.

20. Plaintiffs do not want to be exclusively represented by any organization for
these expressive purposes, or to associate with AFSCME Council 5 or the SEIU in any
way. They wish to retain their individual right to choose with whom they associate to
lobby the State.

21. EO 11-31 creates an actual and imminent risk that Plaintiffs and other
Providers will be forced against their will into an exclusive agency relationship with
AFSCME Council 5 or the SEIU for purposes of petitioning the State on issues of public
policy that affect their family daycare businesses.

CLAIMSFOR RELIEF

COUNT |
(Violation of 42 U.S.C. 8 1983 and the United States Constitution)

22.  Plaintiffsreassert the foregoing and further allege:

23.  The First Amendment guarantees each citizen the individual right to choose
with whom they associate to “ petition the Government for a redress of grievances.”

24. By and through EO 11-31, Defendants threaten to wrongfully deprive
Plaintiffs of their constitutional right to not associate with AFSCME Council 5 or the
SEIU for purposes of speech and “petition[ing] the Government for a redress of
grievances’ in violation of the First Amendment, as secured against State infringement
by the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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25. EO 11-31is unconstitutional both on its face and as applied to Plaintiffs. It
threatens to cause Plaintiffs the irreparable harm and injury inherent in the violation of
constitutional rights for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

COUNT 11
(Violation of 42 U.S.C. 8 1983 and the United States Constitution)

26. Plaintiffsreassert the foregoing and further allege:

27.  The First Amendment exists to protect individua rights from the will of the
majority.

28. By and through EO 11-31, Defendants threaten to wrongfully deprive
Plaintiffs Dana Akre, Addie Clyde, Cynthia Cunningham, Heather Fak, Holly Goad,
Catherine Held, Jody Jakubik, Ruth Tessmer, and Tabitha Zimmer of their individua
right to choose with whom they associate to “petition the Government for a redress of
grievances’ under the First Amendment, as secured against State infringement by the
Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, by subjecting them to an election in which
the mgjority of those voting will dictate the organization with which they must associate
to petition the State.

29. The elections called for in EO 11-31 are unconstitutional on their face and
as applied, and threaten to cause the irreparable harm and injury inherent in the violation

of constitutional rights for which there is no adequate remedy at law.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiffs request that this Court:

A. | ssue a declaratory judgment that EO 11-31 is unconstitutional under the
First Amendment, as secured against State infringement by the Fourteenth Amendment
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and is null and void;

B. | ssue a permanent injunction that enjoins enforcement of EO 11-31,

C. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorney’ s fees pursuant to the
Civil Rights Attorneys Fees Award Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. § 1988;

D. Grant such other and additional relief as the Court may deem just and

proper.
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Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby

demand ajury trial asto all issues so triable.

Dated: January 19, 2012

6609281v3

JURY DEMAND

WINTHROP & WEINSTINE, P.A.

By: s/ Daniel J. Kelly

Daniel J. Kelly, #0351386
Craig S. Krummen, #0259081

225 South Sixth Street

Suite 3500

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402
(612) 604-6400
dkelly@winthrop.com

and

William L. Messenger (Va. Bar. 47179)

Pro Hac Vice Motion to be Filed

National Right to Work Legal Defense

Foundation

8001 Braddock Rd., Suite 600
Springfield, VA 22160
703.321.8510

703.321.9319 (fax)
wlm@nrtw.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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